ผลของการใช้ดีเอ็นเอวัคซีนร่วมกับวัคซีนพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดเชื้อเป็น ต่อการปรับเปลี่ยนการตอบสนอง ทางภูมิคุ้มกันต่อเชื้อพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสายพันธุ์รุนแรงในสุกร



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาพยาธิชีววิทยาทางสัตวแพทย์ ภาควิชาพยาธิวิทยา คณะสัตวแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2559 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# EFFECTS OF DNA-MLV PRIME BOOST IMMUNIZATION ON MODULATION OF PRRSV-SPECIFIC IMMUNE RESPONSES IN HP-PRRSV CHALLENGED PIGS

Mr. Chaitawat Sirisereewan



จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Veterinary Pathobiology Department of Veterinary Pathology Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2016 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	EFFECTS	OF	DI	NA-MLV	PRIME	BOOST
	IMMUNIZA	ATION	ON	MODULA	ATION OF	PRRSV-
	SPECIFIC	IMML	INE	RESPONS	ES IN F	HP-PRRSV
	CHALLENC	GED PI	GS			
Ву	Mr. Chaita	iwat Si	risere	ewan		
Field of Study	Veterinary	Pathc	biolo	ogy		
Thesis Advisor	Professor	Sanipa	Sura	adhat, D.V	.M., Ph.D.,	DTBVP.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Professor	Roong	groje	Thanawo	ngnuwech	n, D.V.M.,
	M.Sc., Ph.I	d., dte	BVP.			

Accepted by the Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

\_\_\_\_\_Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary Science

(Professor Roongroje Thanawongnuwech, D.V.M., M.Sc., Ph.D., DTBVP.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman
(Associate Professor Theerayuth Kaewamatawong, D.V.M., Ph.D., DTBVP.)
Thesis Advisor
(Professor Sanipa Suradhat, D.V.M., Ph.D., DTBVP.)
Thesis Co-Advisor
(Professor Roongroje Thanawongnuwech, D.V.M., M.Sc., Ph.D., DTBVP.)
Examiner
(Assistant Professor Sawang Kesdangsakonwut, D.V.M., M.Sc., Ph.D.,
DTBVP.)
External Examiner
(Assistant Professor Pariwat Poolperm, D.V.M., Ph.D., DTBVM.)

ชัยธวัช ศิริเสรีวรรณ : ผลของการใช้ดีเอ็นเอวัคซีนร่วมกับวัคซีนพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดเชื้อเป็น ต่อการปรับเปลี่ยน การตอบสนองทางภูมิคุ้มกันต่อเชื้อพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสายพันธุ์รุนแรงในสุกร (EFFECTS OF DNA-MLV PRIME BOOST IMMUNIZATION ON MODULATION OF PRRSV-SPECIFIC IMMUNE RESPONSES IN HP-PRRSV CHALLENGED PIGS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ศ. สพ.ญ. ดร. สันนิภา สุรทัตต์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: ศ. น.สพ. ดร. รุ่งโรจน์ ธนาวงษ์นุเวช, 65 หน้า.

้ไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอส จัดเป็นไวรัสก่อโรคที่สำคัญในสุกร ที่ก่อให้เกิดความเสียหายอย่างรุนแรงต่ออุตสาหกรรมการ เลี้ยงสุกรทั่วโลก ไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสเป็นไวรัสที่มีความหลากหลายทางพันธุกรรมสูง จึงเหนี่ยวนำให้เกิดกลายพันธุ์ของไวรัส ้จนเกิดเป็นไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสายพันธุ์รุนแรง การระบาดของไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสายพันธุ์รุนแรงเกิดขึ้นครั้งแรกใน ประเทศจีน ในปี 2549 หลังจากนั้นไวรัสดังกล่าวได้แพร่กระจายเข้ามายังหลายประเทศในภูมิภาคเอเซียตะวันออกเฉียง ้ใต้ ปัจจุบันการใช้วัคซีนโรคพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดเชื้อเป็นไม่สามารถให้ผลในการป้องกันการติดเชื้อไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสาย พันธุ์รุนแรงได้อย่างสมบูรณ์ ทั้งยังส่งผลกระทบในเชิงลบต่อการทำงานของระบบภูมิคุ้มกันในสุกร เป็นที่น่าสนใจว่าการใช้ดี เอ็นเอวัคซีนที่มียืนที่สร้างโปรตีนนิวคลิโอแคปสิดบางส่วนของเชื้อพีอาร์อาร์เอส ร่วมกับวัคซีนโรคพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดเชื้อเป็น ้สามารถช่วยกระตุ้นการตอบสนองทางภูมิคุ้มได้ดียิ่งขึ้น เพื่อศึกษาประสิทธิภาพของการใช้ดีเอ็นเอวัคซีนร่วมกับวัคซีนโรคพี อาร์อาร์เอสชนิดเชื้อเป็น ต่อการติดเชื้อไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสายพันธุ์รุนแรง ทำการแบ่งสุกรทดลองปลอดเชื้อไวรัสพีอาร์ อาร์เอสออกเป็นจำนวน 5 กลุ่มการศึกษา เมื่อสุกรอายุประมาณ 2 สัปดาห์ (ในวันที่ -14; D-14) สุกรทดลองกลุ่ม DNA-MLV และ MLV จะได้รับดีเอ็นเอวัคซีน (pORF7t) และสารละลายพีบีเอส (PBS) ตามลำดับ และให้วัคซีนโรคพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดเชื้อ เป็น (MLV) ในวันที่ 0 สำหรับสุกรทดลองกลุ่มอื่นๆ ประกอบด้วย สุกรทดลองกลุ่ม DNA ซึ่งได้รับการจะได้รับดีเอ็นเอวัคซีน (pORF7t) ในวันที่ -14 ตามด้วยการให้สารละลายพีบีเอส (PBS) ในวันที่ 0 สุกรกลุ่ม PBS จะได้รับสารละลายพีบีเอส (PBS) ในวันที่ 0 และกลุ่มควบคุมลบ (negative) เมื่อสุกรอายุ 6 สัปดาห์ ทำการฉีดพิษทับด้วยเชื้อไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสายพันธุ์ รุนแรงแก่สุกรทดลองทุกกลุ่มยกเว้นกลุ่มควบคุมลบ ผลการศึกษาพบว่ากลุ่มสุกรทดลองในกลุ่ม DNA-MLV และ MLV แสดง อาการทางคลินิกที่น้อยกว่า และสามารถกำจัดเชื้อไวรัสได้เร็วยิ่งขึ้น ภายหลังการฉีดพิษทับ พบว่าสุกรทดลองกลุ่ม DNA-MLV มีการตอบสนองทางภูมิคุ้มกันที่ดีกว่ากลุ่ม MLV โดยตรวจพบการระดับนิวทรัลไลซิ่งแอนติบอดี (neutralizing antibody) ต่อเชื้อไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสายพันธุ์รุนแรง และการตอบสนองทางภูมิคุ้มกันชนิดเซลล์ต่อเชื้อไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์ เอส โดยการสร้างอินเตอร์ฟิรอนแกมม่า (IFN-e) ได้ดียิ่งขึ้น อีกทั้งยังสามารถลดการตอบสนองทางภูมิคุ้มกันในเชิงลบ โดยลด การการสร้างอินเตอร์ลิวคิน 10 (Interleukin-10;IL-10) และ PRRSV-specific Treg ได้ อย่างไรก็ตาม การให้วัคซีน DNA-MLV ในรูปแบบไพรม์-บูส (prime-boost) และการให้วัคซีนเชื้อเป็นเพียงอย่างเดียวไม่สามารถให้ผลการป้องกันการติดเชื้อ ไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสชนิดสายพันธุ์รุนแรงได้อย่างสมบูรณ์ ผลจากการศึกษานี้ สรุปว่า แม้ว่าการให้วัคซีนในรูปแบบไพรม์-บูส จะ ้ช่วยปรับเปลี่ยนการตอบสนองทางภูมิคุ้มกันต่อเชื้อพีอาร์อาร์เอสได้ดีขึ้น แต่ไม่สามารถป้องกันการติดเชื้อย่างสมบูรณ์ ้ได้ การศึกษานี้ชี้ให้เห็นว่า การใช้ดีเอ็นเอวัคซีนร่วมกับวัคซีนในรูปแบบอื่นๆ (prime-boost strategy) สามารถกระตุ้นการ ้สร้างภูมิคุ้มกันที่มีประสิทธิภาพสูงขึ้น ซึ่งอาจนำไปสู่การป้องกันการติดเชื้อไวรัสพีอาร์อาร์เอสอย่างสมบูรณ์ได้

ภาควิชา	พยาธิวิทยา	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	พยาธิชีววิทยาทางสัตวแพทย์	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
ปีการศึกษา	2559	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

#### # # 5775304231 : MAJOR VETERINARY PATHOBIOLOGY

KEYWORDS: HP-PRRSV, DNA VACCINE, MODIFIED LIVE PRRS VACCINE, PRIME-BOOST IMMUNIZATION CHAITAWAT SIRISEREEWAN: EFFECTS OF DNA-MLV PRIME BOOST IMMUNIZATION ON MODULATION OF PRRSV-SPECIFIC IMMUNE RESPONSES IN HP-PRRSV CHALLENGED PIGS. ADVISOR: PROF. SANIPA SURADHAT, D.V.M., Ph.D., DTBVP., CO-ADVISOR: PROF. ROONGROJE THANAWONGNUWECH, D.V.M., M.Sc., Ph.D., DTBVP., 65 pp.

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) has been recognized as the important swine pathogen that threaten swine industry globally. The quasispesies character of PRRSV causes genetic variation, leading to the emergence of the new variant type 2 PRRSV, known as highly pathogenic PRRSV (HP-PRRSV). HP-PRRSV first emerged in China in 2006 and then spread to circulate in the Southeast Asia region. Currently, commercially available modified live PRRS vaccines (MLV) are not able to provide complete protection against the HP-PRRSV, and have been reported to induce negative immunomodulatory effects in vaccinated pigs. Interestingly, a novel DNA vaccine was developed and successfully used to improve PRRSV-specific immune responses following MLV vaccination. To investigate the efficacy of a heterologous DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization against the HP-PRRSV infection, an experimental vaccinated-challenged study was conducted. Two-week-old, PRRSV-seronegative, crossbred pigs (5-8 pigs/group) were allocated into 5 groups. At day-14 (D-14), the treatment group (DNA-MLV) was immunized with a DNA vaccine encoding PRRSV-truncated nucleocapsid protein (pORF7t), followed by a commercial modified live, type 2 PRRS vaccine (MLV) at D0. The other groups included the group that received PBS at D-14 followed by MLV at D0 (MLV), pORF7t at D-14 (DNA), PBS at D0 (PBS) and the negative control group. At D42, all groups, except the negative control group, were challenged with HP-PRRSV (strain 10PL1). The results demonstrated that pigs that received MLV, regardless of the DNA priming, exhibited less clinical signs and faster viral clearance. Following HP-PRRSV challenge, the DNA-MLV group exhibited improved PRRSV-specific immunity, as observed by increased neutralizing antibody titers and PRRSV-specific IFN-g production, and reduced IL-10 and PRRSV-specific Treg productions. However, neither the prime-boost immunization nor the MLV was able to induce complete clinical protection against HP-PRRSV infection. In conclusion, improved immunological responses, but not complete clinical protection, were achieved by DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization. This study highlights the potential use of heterologous prime-boost vaccination regimen, where DNA can be incorporated with other vaccine candidates, for improving anti-PRRSV immunity that may eventually lead induction of complete PRRSV protection.

Department:	Veterinary Pathology	Student's Signature
Field of Study:	Veterinary Pathobiology	Advisor's Signature
Acadomic Voar	2014	Co Advisor's Signature
Academic rear:	2010	

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my advisor Prof. Dr. Sanipa Suradhat for the continuous support of my Master's degree and related research, for professional guidance, motivation and her patience throughout this study. Without her kind assistance and guidance this dissertation would not have been possible. I would also like to express my thankfulness to Prof. Dr. Roongroje Thanawongnuwech, my co-advisor, who provided mentoring, insight and expertise that led me to the right way.

I wish to express my sincere thanks to Asst. Dr. Sawang Kesdangsakonwut for his assistance on pathological analysis and useful suggestion. My deepest gratitude is also expressed to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Theerayuth Kaewamatawong, Asst. Prof. Dr. Pariwat Poolperm as members of my examining committee for their valuable suggestion. I am thankful to all staffs of the Chulalongkorn University, Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (CU-VDL), the Department of Veterinary Pathology and the Department of Veterinary Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for their kindly support and technical assistance. I would also like to thank Dr. Roongtham Kedkovid, Dr. Yonlayong Woonwong, Dr. Jirapat Arunorat, Dr. Natthawan Sopipan and especially Dr. Teerawut Nedumpun for their best friendship.

My graduate program also would have been impossible without the support of the Chulalongkorn University Graduate Scholarship to commemorate the 72nd anniversary of His Majesty King Bhumibol Adulyadej, Thailand Research Fund (RTA 5780006), and the National Research University Project, and Office of Higher Education Commission (WCU-58-004HR).

Most of all, I would like to express my special appreciation and thanks to my beloved parent (Mr. Prawet Sirisereewan and Mrs. Tanaporn Kosonwut), my brother (Mr. Wattanai Sirisereewan) and my friends for their unending support and continuing encouragement.

# CONTENTS

	Page
THAI ABSTRACTir	V
ENGLISH ABSTRACT	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	∕i
CONTENTSv	'ii
LIST OF TABLES	х
LIST OF FIGURES	кi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxi	ii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Objectives	3
CHAPTERS 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Disease and etiology	4
2.2 Transmission	7
2.3 Immunobiology of PRRSV	8
2.3.1 Immunological responses of PRRSV	8
2.3.1.1 Innate immune response of PRRSV	8
2.3.1.2 Humoral immune responses of PRRSV	9
2.3.2 Modulation immune response by PRRSV1	0
2.4 Current problems of PRRSV vaccines1	2
CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS1	5
3.1 Viruses and cells1.	5
3.2 Plasmids1	5

	Page
3.3 Antibodies and secondary conjugates for flow cy	ytometry15
3.4 Animal experiment	
3.5 Clinical observation, clinical respiratory scores, a	and pathological
examination	17
3.6 Serological assays	
3.7 Quantification of PRRSV RNA in the sera and lun	g tissues18
3.8 Isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells	(PBMC) and flow
cytometry	
3.9 Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) o	of target gene expression in
the leukocytes	
3.10 Statistical analyses	20
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	21
4.1 Clinical evaluation	21
4.2 Virological evaluation	26
4.3 Immunomodulatory effects of the heterologous	DNA-MLV prime-boost
immunization on PRRSV-specific humoral immu	ne responses28
4.4 immunomodulatory effects of the heterologous	DNA-MLV prime-boost
immunization the on cellular immune response	<sup>2</sup> S
4.5 Pathological evaluation	
4.6 General summary	
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
5.1 Discussion	
5.2 Conclusion	

APPENDIX	61
VITA	



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University Page

# LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1 Oligonucleotide sequences designed for quantitative real-time PCR2	20
Table 2 Numbers of experimental pigs, gross lung lesion scores and microscopic	
lung lesion scores among the experimental groups4	1
Table 3 The immunomodulatory effects of DNA-MLV immunization obtained	
from this study4	14



# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 PRRSV genome structure
Figure 2 Main routes of PRRSV shedding in infected pigs
Figure 3 Clinical presentation of HP-PRRSV infected pigs22
Figure 4 Mean rectal temperatures from the experimental pigs following the HP- PRRSV challenge
Figure 5 Clinical respiratory scores from the experimental pigs following HP-PRRSV
Figure 6 Total white blood cells from the experimental pigs following the HP-
PRRSV challenge
Figure 7 PRRSV genomic copies in the sera and lungs of experimental pigs
Figure 9 Mean SN antibody titers of the experimental pigs on 0 and 14 dpi 30
Figure 10 Levels of IL-1 $\beta$ gene expression in the experimental pigs
Figure 11 Levels of IL-6 gene expression in the experimental pigs
Figure 12 Levels of IFNA gene expression in the experimental pigs
Figure 13 Levels of IFNB gene expression in the experimental pigs
<b>Figure 14</b> Percentages of PRRSV-specific CD3 <sup>+</sup> IFN- $\gamma^+$ subpopulation in the PBMC
of experimental pigs
Figure 15 Percentages of PRRSV-specific CD3 <sup>+</sup> IL-10 <sup>+</sup> subpopulation in the PBMC of
experimental pigs

Page

Figure 16 Percentages of PRRSV-specific CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD25 <sup>+</sup> FoxP3 <sup>+</sup> subpopulat	ion in the
PBMC of experimental pigs	
Figure 17 Gross lung lesions of the experimental pigs at 17 dpi	42
Figure 18 Histopathological findings of the lung tissues	43



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADE antibody-dependent enhancement BSA bovine serum albumin CU-VDL Veterinary Diagnosis Laboratory, Chulalongkorn University day post infection dpi ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay ΕU European FITC fluorescein isothiocyanate FoxP3 forkhead box P3 G gram (s) GΡ glycoprotein H&E hematoxylin and eosin highly-pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus HP-PRRSV ΗS heparan sulfate IFN interferon IL interleukin indirect immunoperoxidase assay IPMA kilobase pair Kb killed vaccine ΚV

MEM	minimum essential media
ml	millilitre (s)
MLV	modified live vaccine
mМ	millimolar
mm <sup>3</sup>	millimetre (s)
m.o.i.	multiplicity of infection
NA	North American
NAb	neutralizing antibody
N-protein	nucleocapsid protein
NSP	non-structural protein
ORF	open reading frame
ORF7	nucleocapsid protein
ORF7t	truncate nucleocapsid protein
PAM	pulmonary alveolar macrophage
PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PRDC	porcine respiratory disease complex
PRRSV	porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction

monoclonal antibody

mAb

RPMI Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium

RT-PCR reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction

- SEM standard error of the means
- SN serum neutralization
- Sn sialoadhesin
- TCID<sub>50</sub> tissue culture infectious dose 50
- TNF tumor necrosis factor
- Treg regulatory T lymphocyte
- μl microliter



## CHAPTER 1

# INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Introduction

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) is one of the most important swine pathogens that significantly causes major economic impact on swine industry worldwide. PRRSV infection is characterized by reproductive failure in breeding herd, respiratory disorders in nursery to finishing pigs with predisposing to secondary infections, known as porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC) (Lunney et al., 2016). Several studies suggested that PRRSV-induced negative immunomodulatory effects resulted in poor anti-viral immune responses, and immunosuppression in infected pigs (Lopez and Osorio, 2004; Mateu and Diaz, 2008; Kimman et al., 2009; Cecere et al., 2012). Thus, controlling PRRSV infection is essential for enhancing pig growth performance and economic profit. Currently, vaccination against PRRSV, both modified live PRRS vaccines (MLVs) and killed vaccines (KVs), had been licensed (Kimman et al., 2009; Charerntantanakul, 2012). However, these vaccines do not provide complete protection against field strains or heterologous infections (Charerntantanakul, 2012; Renukaradhya et al., 2015). In addition, similar to the natural infection, MLV could also induce negative immunomodulatory effects, leading to reduce vaccine efficacy (Thanawongnuwech and Suradhat, 2010; LeRoith et al., 2011; Suradhat et al., 2016).

Recently, a new variant type 2 PRRSV, known as highly pathogenic PRRSV (HP-PRRSV), emerged in China, causing severe clinical outcomes and high mortality in infected pigs (Tian et al., 2007). Since the initial outbreak, HP-PRRSV rapidly spread to other countries and became the dominant virus circulated in the region, including Thailand (Nilubol et al., 2012; Jantafong et al., 2015). Previous studies from China indicated that HP-PRRSV derived MLVs provided full protection against HP-PRRSV infection (Leng et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2015). However, the vaccines were not licensed in other countries and reversion of HP-PRRSV MLVs should be concerned. The current commercially available MLVs only provided partial protection against the HP-PRRSV challenges (Lager et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015). Recently, a novel DNA vaccine (pORF7t), has been developed. The vaccine was designed to modulate PRRSV-specific immune responses by reducing PRRSV-induced immunomodulatory activities (Suradhat et al., 2015). Priming with DNA vaccine could reduce MLV-induced negative immunomodulatory effects, both IL-10 and Treg, and also enhance PRRSV-specific cellmediated immunity in the immunized pigs (Suradhat et al., 2016). Thus, the heterologous DNA-MLV, prime-boost immunization may be useful for controlling PRRSV infection in heavily infected areas or areas with PRRSV circulations.

We hypothesized that the DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization should enhance MLV-induced, PRRSV-specific immunity against the HP-PRRSV infection, leading to better disease protection. The information obtained from this study will also be useful for developing PRRSV prevention and control strategy in the future.

# 1.2 Objectives

1. To determine the effect of the DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization on PRRSV-specific immune responses in the vaccinated, HP-PRRSV challenged model

2. To evaluate the efficacy of the DNA-MLV prime -immunization against the





จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### **CHAPTERS 2**

### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Disease and etiology

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) is deleterious viral disease causing significant economic impacts on pig production globally. The etiologic virus, porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV), is an enveloped positive-strand RNA virus, and belongs to the family *Arteriviridae*, genus *Arterivirus* (Snijder and Meulenberg, 1998). PRRSV genome is approximately 15 kb in size, contains 11 open reading frames (ORFs) encoding for 14 non-structural proteins (NSP) and 8 structural proteins as shown in Figure 1. (Lunney et al., 2016). PRRSV is currently categorized into two genotypes namely; type 1 and type 2 PRRSV which are also known as European PRRSV and North America PRRSV (NA), respectively. The impact of PRRSV infection includes reproductive failure in breeding herds and respiratory disorders in nursery to finishing pigs, possibly by impairment of pulmonary defense mechanisms, leading to secondary infections, as known as porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC) (Lunney et al., 2016).

The cellular tropism of PRRSV is the cells of the monocytic lineage, especially pulmonary alveolar macrophages (PAMs). PRRSV entry into the susceptible host cells is usually mediated through binding of the viral-specific receptors, such as CD163, CD151, heparin sulfate (HS), sialoadhesin (Sn), and vimentin (Shi et al., 2015). The receptor-mediated entry process facilitates internalization and viral replication within the target cells (Shi et al., 2015; Zhang and Yoo, 2015). Besides of the monocytic lineages, several permissive cell lines, including CL2621, SJPL, MA-104 and MARC-145, have been used for viral propagation and *in vitro* studies of PRRSV (Zhang and Yoo, 2015).

The quasispecies characteristics, including antigenic and genetic variation, of PRRSV have been well demonstrated in both genotypes (Goldberg et al., 2003). In 2006, a highly pathogenic PRRSV (HP-PRRSV) of atypical type 2 PRRSV with deletion of 30 amino acids in the NSP2 gene, emerged in China and affected more than one million pigs. HP-PRRSV infection resulted in high morbidity and mortality in the infected pigs (Tian et al., 2007). Following the first outbreak, HP-PRRSV spread to Southeast Asian countries (Do et al., 2015; Jantafong et al., 2015). In 2010, the first outbreak of HP-PRRSV was reported in Thailand (Nilubol et al., 2012) and then became the dominant circulating PRRSV strain in Thailand (Jantafong et al., 2015). In addition to the type 2 genotype, type 1 HP-PRRSV was also reported in East Europe and designated as "Lena" strain (Karniychuk et al., 2010). The Lena strain of PRRSV was grouped in the new East European subtype 3 with 29 amino acids deletions in the NSP2 gene (Van Doorsselaere et al., 2012).

Based from phylogenetic analyses of more than 8500 ORF5 sequences from type 2 PRRSV. Type 2 PRRSV can be classified into 9 lineages with more than 10% of interlineage genetic differences (Shi et al., 2010). Strain VR-2332, the prototype of type 2 PRRSV in the lineage 5 and had been reported in USA, Denmark, China, Korea and Thailand. Several isolates of HP-PRRSV were classified in the lineage 8, sublineage 8.7 (Shi et al., 2010; Jantafong et al., 2015). The HP-PRRSV might originate from the CH-1a-like PRRSV which was in lineage 8 (An et al., 2010). The commercial MLVs were derived from several lineages, including lineage 5 (Ingelvac PRRS MLV, Boehringer Ingelheim Vetmedica Inc.), lineage 7 (PrimePac PRRS MLV, MSD Animal Health) and lineage 9 (Ingelvac-ATP PRRS MLV, Boehringer Ingelheim Vetmedica Inc.) (Shi et al., 2010). Recently, a new type 2 PRRSV vaccine (Fostera<sup>™</sup> PRRS MLV, Zoetis), derived from lineage 8, has been introduced to the Asian markets (Do et al., 2015).



**Figure 1 PRRSV genome structure**; ORF1a, ORF1a-TF and ORF1b regions are translated into two large nonstructural polyproteins, particularly the replicase-associated polyproteins. ORFs 2-7 are encoded for eight structural proteins, including minor envelope proteins (GP2a, GP3, GP4, E, and ORF5a), major envelope proteins (GP5 and M), and nucleocapsid protein (N) (Lunney et al., 2016).

#### 2.2 Transmission

Several risk factors including animal movement, biosecurity level, exposure from PRRSV-infected neighbor herds, semen, herd size, pig density and herd density have been identified as risk factors contributing to PRRSV infection (Mortensen et al., 2002). In general, the PRRSV transmission occurs both horizontally (Bierk et al., 2001) and vertically (Christianson et al., 1992).

With regard to horizontal transmission, direct contact is the most common form of PRRSV transmission, as infected pigs can shed the virus via several routes, including saliva, semen, blood, aerosols, feces, milk and colostrum as shown in Figure 2 (Cho and Dee, 2006). Virus-contaminated saliva can be easily transmitted during commingled with other penmates (Wills et al., 1997). Moreover, contaminated semen plays a significant role in PRRSV transmission through artificial insemination in breeding herds (Yaeger et al., 1993; Corzo et al., 2010). In addition, indirect transmission through contaminated fomites, transport vehicles, carrier insects, avian and non-porcine mammalian species, and aerosols, have been reported (Cho and Dee, 2006).

For vertical transmission, PRRSV can spread from sow to fetus during the lateterm of gestation, as high numbers of PRRSV-specific receptors, CD163 and Sn, in the endometrium and placenta were present during the late gestation. Vertical transmission leads to fetal death, late-term abortion, mummification, early farrowing, and weak-born piglets (Karniychuk and Nauwynck, 2013). Persistent infection has been observed for up to 150 days in post-natal infection (Allende et al., 2000) and up to 210 days in congenital infection (Cho and Dee, 2006).



Figure 2 Main routes of PRRSV shedding in infected pigs (Adapted from: <u>www.prrscontrol.com</u>)

**งหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย** 

# 2.3 Immunobiology of PRRSV

2.3.1 Immunological responses of PRRSV

2.3.1.1 Innate immune response of PRRSV

Proper innate immune response is essential for preventing viral invasion and replication, as well as inducing adaptive immune responses for complete viral clearance (Koyama et al., 2008). In contrast to other viral diseases, PRRSV infection failed to elicit several pro-inflammatory cytokines, including Interleukin (IL)-1, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α and interferon (IFN)-α, during an early phase of infection (Van Reeth et al., 1999; Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000). Suppression of type I IFN, both IFN-α and IFN-β, following PRRSV infection had been reported (Miller et al., 2004; Loving et al., 2007). As type I IFNs inhibit PRRSV replication (Albina et al., 1998; Le Bon et al., 2001) and are necessary for induction of PRRSV-specific IFN-γ producing cells (Kadowski et al., 2000; Royaee et al., 2004). Inhibition of type I IFN contributed to poor viral clearance. Notably, the HP-PRRSV-infected pigs exhibited stronger up-regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1, IL-6, IFN-α and TNF-α, than the lowvirulent PRRSV strains. These cytokines were associated with severe clinical outcomes (Liu et al., 2010; Guo et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013). Evidently, septal cells in PRRSVinduced pneumonia were able to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-α, leading to increase severity of lung pathology (Gomez-Laguna et al., 2010).

# 2.3.1.2 Humoral immune responses of PRRSV

Following PRRSV infection, PRRSV-specific IgM antibodies were first detected within 5-7 days post infection and declined until undetectable levels at 14-21 days post infection (Park et al., 1995; Yoon et al., 1995; Loemba et al., 1996; Joo et al., 1997). Later, PRRSV-specific IgG antibodies was detected within 7-10 days post infection (Yoon et al., 1995; Loemba et al., 1996) and maintained up to 300 days post infection (Nelson et al., 1994). Unfortunately, the presence of PRRSV-specific antibodies during an early phase of infection does not correlate with protection but

also enhance virus entry into target cells, referred as "antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE)" (Yoon et al., 1996). While, neutralizing antibodies are believed to be the key mechanism for PRRSV protection and/or clearance, they do not appear until approximately one month following PRRSV infection (Loemba et al., 1996; Meier et al., 2003; Lopez and Osorio, 2004). As PRRSV rapidly evolved, thus effective protection requires broad-reactive neutralizing antibodies, or cross neutralizing antibodies (Robinson et al., 2015). Several reports indicated that the ectodomain of PRRSV glycoprotein 5 (GP5) is the major neutralizing epitope (Pirzadeh and Dea, 1997; Ostrowski et al., 2002; Plagemann et al., 2002; Plagemann, 2004). Interestingly, induction of cross neutralization was associated with five candidate sites in GP5, of which three of these sites were located in the first 60 amino acids of the GP5 (Kim et al., 2013). It should be noted that the presence of NAb could not guarantee effective protection. Moreover, the precise NAb titer for sterilizing immunity is still controversial. Nevertheless, NAb plays an important role in reduction of viremia (Osorio et al., 2002) and also correlates well with PRRSV clearance from the lung (Labarque et al., 2000).

#### 2.3.2 Modulation immune response by PRRSV

PRRSV has been recognized as an immunosuppressive virus that exploits various mechanisms to evade the host defense mechanisms. PRRSV infection usually induces delayed innate and adaptive immune responses contributing to persistent infection in the PRRSV infected pigs (Mateu and Diaz, 2008). Previous reports

demonstrated that multiple viral proteins, including NSP1, NSP2, NSP4, NSP11 and Nprotein, can suppress type I interferon responses by inhibiting IFN-mediated signaling pathways and blocking the IFN-induced genes activities (Yoo et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2015). Besides, PRRSV can downregulate pro-inflammatory cytokines in the infected pigs (Van Reeth et al., 1999; Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000). Interestingly, it has been demonstrated that PRRSV up-regulated IL-10 expression (Suradhat and Thanawongnuwech, 2003) and the upregulation of IL-10 in PRRSV-infected PAMs were found within 12 hour post infection (Genini et al., 2008). In general, IL-10 has been recognized as a potent immunosuppressive cytokine that inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokines and impairs T-cell activation (Moore et al., 2001; Flores-Mendoza et al., 2008). In addition, induction of regulatory T cell (Treg) is one of the most unique mechanisms for modulating swine immune system by PRRSV (Silva-Campa et al., 2009; Wongyanin et al., 2010). Treg plays an important role in maintaining host homeostasis, controlling inflammatory activities and limiting immunopathology (Vignali et al., 2008; Sakaguchi et al., 2009). However, the exaggerated Treg activity can suppress virus-specific T cell responses contributing to ineffective antiviral immune responses and facilitate viral persistence (Zhou, 2008). PRRSV infection is able to establish persistent infection and the virus can persist in various organs, including tonsil, lymph node and lung (Wills et al., 2003). The persistent mechanism contributed to PRRSV persistent is still unclear. It is possible that PRRSV can induce local immunoinhibitory mechanisms which benefit viral persistent in various organs. Notably, in a mouse model, suppression of effective

T-cell response in the lungs and lymph nodes by tissue-resident Treg was reported following respiratory viral infection (Fulton et al., 2010) and pulmonary cryptococcal infection (Wiesner et al., 2016). It is possible that PRRSV infection induce PRRSV-specific Treg at the infected sites, leading to ineffective viral clearance and prolonged infection. Interestingly, it has been shown that PRRSV N-protein is involved in induction of negative immunomodulatory effects. Wongyanin and colleagues demonstrated that PRRSV N-protein induced IL-10 and Treg (Wongyanin et al., 2012).

Evasion mechanisms on neutralizing antibodies have been reported through induction of N-linked glycosylation in the GP3 (Vu et al., 2011) and GP5 proteins (Ansari et al., 2006; Vu et al., 2011). Moreover, induction of decoy GP5 epitope mimicking the major neutralizing epitope resulted in delayed induction of neutralizing antibodies have been reported (Ostrowski et al., 2002). In addition, cell to cell transmission via intercellular nanotubes is an alternative pathway for PRRSV to avoid neutralizing antibodies within the extracellular space (Guo et al., 2016).

#### 2.4 Current problems of PRRSV vaccines

To control PRRSV infection, modified live PRRSV vaccines (MLVs) and killed PRRSV vaccines (KVs) have been approved and are commercially available. MLVs have been widely used for routine vaccination and shown some acceptable outcomes on reducing clinical signs, viremia and virus shedding (Huang et al., 2015). In contrast, KV is safer but provide inefficient protection against either homologous or heterologous PRRSV strains (Charerntantanakul, 2012; Renukaradhya et al., 2015). HP-PRRSV-based vaccines provided complete protection against the HP-PRRSV challenge in china (Leng et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2015). However, those vaccines were not licensed in other countries. For these reasons, commercially available type 2 MLVs were tested against the HP-PRRSV challenge. However, those vaccines did not completely prevent and control HP-PRRSV infection (Wei et al., 2013; Lager et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Charoenchanikran et al., 2016). In addition, the commercial MLV vaccines are able to induce IL-10 production (Diaz et al., 2006; Zuckermann et al., 2007; Park et al., 2014), and Tregs (LeRoith et al., 2011) similar to the natural infection. Thus, elimination of the negative immunomodulatory effects of the PRRSV-MLV should be explored in the future development of an effective PRRSV vaccine (Thanawongnuwech and Suradhat, 2010).

To improve the PRRSV vaccine efficacy, several novel PRRSV vaccines, including **CHUATONGROW UNIVERSITY** a recombinant vaccines, a DNA vaccines, killed and modified live vaccines have been explored. However, those vaccines are not fully protective (Charerntantanakul, 2012). Recently, a novel DNA vaccine has been developed with well-established safety. The vaccine was able to reduce PRRSV-negative immunomodulatory effects (PRRSV-specific Tregs and IL-10) as well as enhance PRRSV-specific IFN- $\gamma$  responses. However, this vaccine does not contain PRRSV protective epitope (Suradhat et al., 2015; Suradhat et al., 2016). To improve vaccine immunogenicity, the prime-boost immunization regimen has been utilized to enhance cellular immune responses in animal models, which were reviews elsewhere (Woodland, 2004). Based on this concept, it is of interest to explore if the heterologous DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization would be able to improve the efficacy of the PRRSV-MLV vaccine against the HP-PRRSV strain.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### CHAPTER 3

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 3.1 Viruses and cells

The Thai isolates, type 2 HP-PRRSV (strain 10PL1) (Ayudhya et al., 2012) and type 2 PRRSV strain (strain 01NP1) (Thanawongnuwech et al., 2004) were provided by the Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (CU-VDL), Chulalongkorn University. The viruses were propagated titrated in MARC-145 cells (Thanawongnuwech et al., 1998), and stored at -80 °C until needed.

## 3.2 Plasmids

The plasmid encoding for truncated PRRSV N protein (pORF7t) was used in the study. Details of cloning procedure, *in vitro* characterization, and plasmid amplification were described in the earlier report (Wongyanin et al., 2012). The immunomodulatory properties of the plasmid have already been reported elsewhere (Suradhat et al., 2015; Suradhat et al., 2016).

#### 3.3 Antibodies and secondary conjugates for flow cytometry

Treg staining system: Anti-swine CD25 mAb (K231.3B2, IgG1) and goat antimouse IgG1-FITC were purchased from AbD Serotec (Kidlington, UK). Biotinylated antiswine CD4 mAb (74-12-4, IgG2b) was purchased from Southern Biotech (Birmingham, AL, USA). Streptavidin-PE was purchased from BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA). Antihuman Foxp3-APC conjugate (236A/E7, IgG1) was purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA, USA).

IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10 staining system: Anti-swine CD3-FITC mAb (BB23-8E6, IgG2b) conjugate was purchased from Southern Biotech. Anti-swine IFN- $\gamma$  mAb (P2C11) was purchased from BD Biosciences. Anti-swine IL-10 mAb (945A4C437B1, IgG1) was purchased from Biosource (Camarillo, CA, USA). Streptavidin-PETR, goat anti-mouse IgG1-Alexaflur 647 and IgG1 isotype control was purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA).

# 3.4 Animal experiment

Two-week-old, PRRSV-seronegative, crossbred pigs (5-8 pigs/group) were randdomly into 5 groups and identified by ear-tagging. Pigs were immunized transdermally, using Dermavac needleless applicator (kindly provide by Merial Co. Ltd., USA) with DNA vaccine (pORF7t) on day (D) -14 (D -14), followed by intramuscular immunization with a commercial modified live PRRS vaccine (FosteraTM PRRS, Zoetis) at D0. The other experimental groups included pigs received only PBS, trandermally, on D -14 followed by MLV on D0 (MLV), pORF7t on D -14 (DNA), PBS on D0 (PBS) and the negative control groups. At D42 (9 weeks old), all groups, except the negative control group, were intranasally inoculated with 2 ml of 10<sup>4</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub>/ml of HP-PRRSV (strain 10PL1), (0 days post-infection, dpi). Whole blood and serum samples were collected for hematological, serological and virological studies. For immunological studies, whole blood samples were collected from 5 pigs/group at the indicated time points. All pigs were euthanized and necropsied at 17 dpi, or when found dead or at moribund stage. The pigs were kept in the isolation unit at the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kasetsart University, Kamphangsan campus throughout the experiment. The animal use protocols were conducted under the approval of Chulalongkorn University Animal Care and Use Committee, Chulalongkorn University (Animal Use Protocol No. 1431086).

#### 3.5 Clinical observation, clinical respiratory scores, and pathological examination

Animals were monitored for physical conditions, rectal temperatures and clinical respiratory disease daily during 10 days post infection. Respiratory clinical scores were graded based on the severity of respiratory signs as; 0) normal, 1) mild respiratory distress, 2) moderate respiratory distress, 3) severe respiratory distress with cyanosis. The gross lung lesions and histopathological changes were scored using the previously described protocol (Halbur et al., 1995). Briefly, the microscopic histopathological changes of the lungs were examined and scored as; 0) normal, 1) mild interstitial pneumonia, 2) moderate multifocal interstitial pneumonia, 3) moderate diffuse interstitial pneumonia and 4) severe diffuse interstitial pneumonia.

#### 3.6 Serological assays

Anti-PRRSV antibodies were determined using the commercial ELISA test kit (IDEXX PRRS X3 Ab test, IDEXX, USA) according to the manufacturer's instruction.

Serum samples were considered positive for PRRSV antibodies when the S/P ratio was greater than 0.4.

Serum neutralization (SN) test against the challenged virus was performed using the previously reported protocol (Galliher-Beckley et al., 2015), with minor modification, using 100 TCID<sub>50</sub> of the type 2 HP-PRRSV (10PL1) as the tested virus. The serum neutralizing antibody (NA) titer of  $\geq$ 1:2 (1 log<sub>2</sub>) was considered as positive. The presence of PRRSV was confirmed by IPMA assay as previously described (Thanawongnuwech et al., 1998).

#### 3.7 Quantification of PRRSV RNA in the sera and lung tissues

Viral RNA was extracted from serum and lung samples using RNA extraction kit (NucleoSpin® RNA virus kit, MACHEREY-NAGEL, Germany). Quantification of PRRSV RNA in the sera was performed using TaqMan<sup>®</sup> probe-based, real-time RT-PCR as previously described (Egli et al., 2001). RNA Amplification was carried out in a 25  $\mu$ l reaction containing SuperScript<sup>™</sup> III One-Step RT-PCR kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA); 1x Reaction Mix, 0.4 mM of each primer and probe, 0.5  $\mu$ l of SuperScript<sup>®</sup> III RT/Platinum Taq Mix and 0.5  $\mu$ l of viral RNA.

## 3.8 Isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and flow cytometry

The protocols for porcine PBMC isolation and cellular permeabilization, were performed as previously described (Suradhat et al., 2015). *In vitro* activation was performed in a 96-well plate. Briefly,  $1 \times 10^6$  cells of the isolated PBMC (200 µl) were

plated into each well of a 96-well flat-bottomed plate and incubated with 0.1 multiplicity of infection (m.o.i.) of the type 2 PRRSV (strain 01NP1) or cultured alone or with mock-infected MARC-145 cell lysate for 48 h prior to cell harvesting for fluorescent staining. The staining procedures for Treg, IL-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  were performed using the previously described protocol (Suradhat et al., 2016). All flow cytometric analyses were performed using the FC 500 MPL System (Beckman Coulter, CA, USA).

3.9 Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) of target gene expression in the leukocytes

Total RNA was extracted from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) using the commercial RNA extraction kit (Biotechrabbit, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The extracted RNA was converted to cDNA with the cDNA synthesis kit (Invitrogen, USA). The levels of cytokine gene expression were determined using SYBR green-based, real-time quantitative PCR. The details of primer sequences were showed in Table 1. The qPCR reaction was performed as previously described (Wongyanin et al., 2010).

Gene	Oligonucleotide sequences (5'-3')	Product size (bp)
IFNA	F: CTG-GAG-GAG-GAC-TCC-AT	268
	R: GAG-TCT-GTC-TTG-CAG-GTT	
IFNB	F: CAC-CAC-AGC-TCT-TTC-CAT	225
	R: CTG-CAT-CTT-CCT-TCT-GGA-AT	
IL-1β	F: AAC-GTG-CAA-TGA-TGA-CTT-TG	292
	R: CAC-TTC-TCT-CTT-CAA-GTC-CC	
IL-6	F: AGA-ACT-CAT-TAA-GTA-CAT-CCT-CG	180
	R: AGA-TTG-GAA-GCA-TCC-GTC	
GAPDH	F: AAG-TGG-ACA-TTG-TCG-CCA-TC	123
	R: TCA-CAA-ACA-TGG-GGG-CAT-C	

 Table 1 Oligonucleotide sequences designed for quantitative real-time PCR.

# 3.10 Statistical analyses

Data was analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests or Kruskal-Wallis followed by Dunn's multiple comparison tests. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism for Windows (GraphPad Software Incorporated, San Diego, CA, USA).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### **CHAPTER 4**

# RESULTS

### 4.1 Clinical evaluation

To investigate the effect of the DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization on clinical protection against the Thai-isolated HP-PRRSV, pigs immunized with indicated treatment were challenged with the Thai-isolated HP-PRRSV on D42. Following HP-PRRSV inoculation, all challenged pigs exhibited clinical signs of HP-PRRSV infection including severe depression, anorexia, lethargy, increased oculonasal discharges, coughing with high fever (Fig. 3 and Fig. 4) starting from 1 dpi. The groups, receiving MLV and DNA-MLV, exhibited delayed clinical signs and lower respiratory scores than the other challenged groups (Fig. 5). Leukopenia was also observed by 2 dpi in the challenged pigs, especially in the group that did not received MLV (Fig. 6). The negative control group remained clinically normal throughout the observation period, indicating that there are no cross-contamination during the experiment. The groups receiving MLV and DNA-MLV immunization exhibited faster recovery, as shown by reduction of body temperature and clinical respiratory scores, than the other challenged groups.


Figure 3 Clinical presentation of HP-PRRSV infected pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi. (A) HP-PRRSV infected pigs exhibited clinical symptoms, including severe depression, anorexia with high fever. (B) HP-PRRSV infected pigs also showed swelling of the eyelids with ocular discharge and red discoloration of the ear pinnas.



Figure 4 Mean rectal temperatures from the experimental pigs following the HP-PRRSV challenge. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi<sub>\*</sub> Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; <sup>d</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group DNA and PBS.



Figure 5 Clinical respiratory scores from the experimental pigs following HP-PRRSV challenge. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; <sup>d</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and PBS.



Figure 6 Total white blood cells from the experimental pigs following the HP-PRRSV challenge. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; <sup>d</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group DNA and PBS.

## 4.2 Virological evaluation

Virological findings were shown in Fig. 4. Following MLV vaccination, the pigs immunized with MLV exhibited viremia during D3-D28.

Following the HP-PRRSV challenge, viremia was detected in all challenged groups from 2 dpi and peaked at 4-7 dpi. The groups that were not immunized with MLV were more viremia than the MLV-immunized groups (DNA-MLV and MLV). Faster reduction of viremia was observed in the groups immunized with MLV and DNA-MLV, while the other challenged groups exhibited prolonged and higher levels of viremia (Fig. 7A). The timing on reduced viral load corresponded well with the reduced body temperatures and clinical signs (Fig. 4 and Fig. 5).

At necropsy, the levels of viral load in the lungs of the MLV and DNA-MLV immunized groups were lower than the other challenged groups (Fig. 7B). There were no differences in the levels of viral load in the sera and lungs between the MLV and DNA-MLV groups (Fig. 7). Immunization with DNA vaccine only did not provided clinical nor virological protection, compared to the non-vaccinated challenged group.



Figure 7 PRRSV genomic copies in the sera (A), and lungs (B) of experimental pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi. Lung samples were collected at 17 dpi. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; <sup>d</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and PBS.

# 4.3 Immunomodulatory effects of the heterologous DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization on PRRSV-specific humoral immune responses

The immunomodulatory effects of heterologous DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization on the PRRSV-specific humoral immune responses were demonstrated in Figs. 8-9. Priming of DNA vaccine prior to MLV immunization resulted in enhanced PRRSV-specific antibody responses. Seroconversion, i.e. positive ELISA S/P ratio, was observed in the groups receiving MLV immunization by D14. The DNA-MLV immunized group exhibited higher means S/P ratio than the group received MLV only (Fig. 8). Following the HP-PRRSV challenge, seroconversion was observed in all challenged groups. Interestingly, no anamnestic responses were observed in the MLV and DNA-MLV immunized groups.

No HP-PRRSV specific serum neutralizing (SN) antibodies were detected prior to the HP-PRRSV challenge. Following the HP-PRRSV challenge, increases in SN antibodies were observed in the DNA-MLV (6/6) and MLV (3/8) immunized groups. Significant increase in the SN titers (D0 vs D14) was only observed in the groups receiving DNA-MLV (Fig. 9). The results indicated that heterologous DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization resulted in priming of HP-PRRSV specific neutralizing antibodies.



**Figure 8 Mean S/P of the experimental pigs.** Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and PBS.



Figure 9 Mean SN antibody titers of the experimental pigs on 0 and 14 dpi. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; f indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; f indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; f indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; f indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; f indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and PBS. In Fig. 9, number in parenthesis indicates number of seroconverted pigs/total number in each group. \* indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the indicated groups.

# 4.4 immunomodulatory effects of the heterologous DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization the on cellular immune responses

Immunomodulatory effects of heterologous DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization on the cellular immune responses were demonstrated in Fig. 10-16. Following the HP-PRRSV challenge, all challenged groups, especially MLV immunized group, exhibited higher levels of IL-1 $\beta$  gene expression at 2 dpi (Fig. 10) and then gradually declined through the end of observation periods, while enhanced IL-1 $\beta$  gene expression was not observed in the DNA immunized pigs. The levels of IL-6 gene expression from the PBS group began to rise during the first few days and remained high through the end of observation period. On the other hand, the levels of IL-6 gene expression from DNA-MLV immunized group were lower than the MLV group at 4 dpi. The levels of *IL-6* gene expression from the DNA group were also lower than the MLV immunized and the PBS groups at 4 dpi and maintained at the lower level (Fig. 11). Interestingly, pigs received prime-boost, DNA-MLV, immunization exhibited significantly higher levels of the anti-viral cytokine, IFN- $\alpha$  gene expression following the challenge, at 2 dpi (Fig. 12), while enhanced IFN- $\alpha$  gene expression was not observed in the MLV immunized pigs. Likewise, the levels of IFN- $\beta$  gene expression in the DNA-MLV immunized group were up-regulated at 4 dpi, compared to the other challenged groups, and then gradually declined through the end of observation periods (Fig. 13). However, there were no significant differences between the groups. Following MLV immunization, increased numbers of PRRSV-specific CD3<sup>+</sup>IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells were observed in the DNA-MLV immunized group during D0-D28. Following the HP-PRRSV challenge, the numbers of PRRSV-specific CD3<sup>+</sup> IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells in all challenged groups increased to the comparable levels (Fig. 14).

The heterologous prime-boost DNA-MLV immunization resulted in reduction of negative immunomodulatory effects following MLV vaccination. As shown in Fig. 15 and 16, the numbers of PRRSV-specific IL-10 producing cells and PRRSV-specific Treg in the DNA-MLV immunized group were lower than those receiving MLV immunization. This effect was also observed following the HP-PRRSV challenge. Interestingly, the group that received only DNA vaccine also exhibited better control of Treg induction following the HP-PRRSV challenge. Together, the data indicated that priming with pORF7t provided positive immunomodulatory effects on the cellular immune responses induced by the MLV, resulted in improved PRRSV-specific cellular immune responses following the HP-PRRSV challenge.



Figure 10 Levels of IL-1 $\beta$  gene expression in the experimental pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS;



Figure 11 Levels of IL-6 gene expression in the experimental pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS;



Figure 12 Levels of IFNA gene expression in the experimental pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS;



Figure 13 Levels of IFNB gene expression in the experimental pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS;



Figure 14 Percentages of PRRSV-specific CD3<sup>+</sup>IFN- $\gamma^+$  subpopulation in the PBMC of experimental pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group DNA and PBS.



Figure 15 Percentages of PRRSV-specific CD3<sup>+</sup>IL-10<sup>+</sup> subpopulation in the PBMC of experimental pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and PBS.



Figure 16 Percentages of PRRSV-specific CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> subpopulation in the PBMC of experimental pigs. Pigs were immunized with the indicated treatment and challenged with HP-PRRSV at 0 dpi (D42). Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; d indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and PBS.

## 4.5 Pathological evaluation

The numbers of the survived pigs in each group, microscopic and macroscopic pathological scores at 17 dpi or at the time of death were summarized in Table 2. HP-PRRSV-induced pneumonia were characterized by failed to collapse, diffuse consolidation, diffusely tan or mottled-tan consolidation of the lungs with enlargement of tracheobronchial lymph nodes (Fig. 17). At the end of the observation period (17 dpi), the pig immunized with MLV and DNA-MLV exhibited better gross lung lesions than the other challenge groups (Table 2). Upon lung microscopic examination, there were no differences in the mean microscopic lesions among the groups (Table 2). All challenged groups showed mild or moderate degree of interstitial pneumonia that characterized by septal infiltration by lymphocytes and histiocytes and mild peribronchiolar lymphoid hyperplasia (Fig. 18).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Treatment	n	n	Gross lung lesion score $^{\dagger}$	Mean microscopic lung lesions <sup>†</sup>
	(0 dpi)	(17 dpi)	(mean ± SEM)	(mean ± SEM)
MLV	8	8	$5.50 \pm 2.28^{a,e}$	$1.25 \pm 0.164$
DNA-MLV	6	6	$3.20 \pm 2.33^{b,d}$	$1.83 \pm 0.167$
DNA	8	4	40.00 ± 7.70	2.25 ± 0.479
PBS	8	7	31.63 ± 5.80	$2.00 \pm 0.218$
Negative	5	5	0.00	1.40 ± 0.245

**Table 2** Numbers of experimental pigs, gross lung lesion scores and microscopic lunglesion scores among the experimental groups.

<sup>+</sup> Gross lung lesions score and microscopic lung lesions score were evaluated based on the previously study (Halbur et al., 1995)

Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. <sup>a</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>b</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and DNA; <sup>c</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and MLV; <sup>d</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA-MLV and PBS; <sup>e</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and MLV; <sup>f</sup> indicates difference (p < 0.05) between the group receiving DNA and PBS.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



**Figure 17 Gross lung lesions of the experimental pigs at 17 dpi** Representative of a normal lung from a negative control pig (A), Representative of gross lung lesions from pigs received MLV (B), DNA-MLV (C), PBS (D), and DNA (E).



Figure 18 Histopathological findings of the lung tissues from the negative control pig (A), pigs that received MLV (B), DNA-MLV (C), PBS (D), and DNA (E). Interstitial pneumonia is characterized by thickening of alveolar septa by increased infiltration of lymphocytes and histiocytes. The lung tissues were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E).

## 4.6 General summary

Taken together, the prime-boost, DNA-MLV, immunization regimen could alter the patterns of PRRSV-specific immune responses by enhancing both cellular and humoral immunity, and reducing negative immunomodulatory effects induced by MLV and HP-PRRSV. The DNA-MLV immunization could provide partial clinical protection with faster viral clearances. However, there were no differences in degree of clinical protection between the groups immunized with MLV and DNA-MLV. Thus, priming with DNA vaccine did not provide any additional benefit on clinical protection against the HP-PRRSV infection. The effects of the prime-boost, DNA-MLV, immunization were summarized in Table 3.

**Table 3** The immunomodulatory effects of DNA-MLV immunization obtained fromthis study.

Parameters	DNA-MLV	MLV	DNA
Clinical signs			
Viral load			
ELISA titer			
SN titer			
Type I IFN			
CMI (IFN-γ)			
IL-10			
Treg			

indicate positive effect 📕 indicate negative effect or no effect

#### CHAPTER 5

# DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

#### 5.1 Discussion

In this study, we hypothesized that the heterologous DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization should enhance the efficacy of the MLV against the HP-PRRSV. Our results demonstrated that the DNA vaccine could improve the quality of PRRSV-specific immunity in the pigs that received DNA-MLV immunization. However, priming with the DNA vaccine did not provide significant advantage on clinical protection over the MLV. DNA vaccine was designed to reduce PRRSV-induced negative As the immunomodulatory effects, the efficacy of the DNA-MLV immunization was still mainly relied on the MLV-induced protective mechanisms. The findings that the current commercially available MLV provided only partial protection against the HP-PRRSV challenges are consistent to the previous reports (Lager et al., 2014; Do et al., 2015; Charoenchanikran et al., 2016). It is indicated that immunization with PRRS-MLV derived from the same (lineage 8) as HP-PRRSV could not guarantee complete protection. It is possible that nature of HP-PRRSV and the intra-lineage genetic/antigenic differences between the vaccine virus (lineage 8) and the challenged HP-PRRSV (lineage 8, sublineage 8.7) involve the vaccine efficacy. From our point of view, proper selection of PRRSV vaccine in relation to a PRRSV field strain together with strict biosecurity and management, could provide substantial benefits for prevention and control of HP-PRRSV or PRRSV in infected areas.

Interestingly, priming with DNA vaccine also enhanced the anti-viral cytokine, IFN- $\alpha$ , production following HP-PRRSV infection (Fig. 12). The N-protein of PRRSV has been reported as an IFN-antagonist (Huang et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2015; Lunney et al., 2016). It was possible that priming with the DNA vaccine resulted in enhanced immunity to the N protein which resulted in reduced IFN-antagonist activity following the HP-PRRSV infection. Previous reports indicated that PRRSV-specific IFN- $\gamma$  secreting cells are the main protective mechanism against the PRRSV infection (Meier et al., 2003; Zuckermann et al., 2007; Park et al., 2014). In this study, increased numbers of  $CD3^+IFN-\gamma^+$  cells in the DNA-MLV group were observed both following MLV immunization and HP-PRRSV challenge, indicating that the broad immunomodulatory effects of the DNA vaccine on induction of the cellular immunity. Our findings indicated that the appearance of HP-PRRSV-specific IFN- $\gamma$  producing cells coincided with the reduction of viremia in the immunized pigs. These findings supported the previous studies that Induction of HP-PRRSV-specific IFN- $\gamma$  production may provide partial protection, resulted in reduced severity of clinical signs and viremic levels (Do et al., 2015). Nonetheless, our results indicated that the well-primed cellular immunity was not sufficient to completely protect HP-PRRSV infection.

It should be noted that most of modified live type 2 PRRS vaccines failed to prime for neutralizing antibody against the HP-PRRSV (Do et al., 2015; Galliher-Beckley et al., 2015). In this study, induction of SN antibodies was observed following the challenge and correlated well with clinical recovery and viral clearance in the infected pigs. Priming with the DNA vaccine could significantly enhance neutralizing antibodies in the immunized pigs, suggesting the positive immunomodulatory effect of the DNA vaccine on PRRSV-specific humoral immunity. The priming of SN antibodies observed in the MLV immunized groups, regardless of the DNA priming could be due to the conserved neutralizing epitopes among the PRRSV lineages. The MLV used in this study and the challenged HP-PRRSV are from lineage 8 (Shi et al., 2010; Do et al., 2015). Previous report indicated the existence of cross neutralization epitopes located in the first 60 amino acids of the GP5 proteins among the type 2 PRRSV strains (Kim et al., 2013). It is speculated that both HP-PRRSV and PRRS MLV shared common neutralizing epitopes, leading to priming and induction of cross-neutralizing antibodies following the challenge. The findings also highlighted the significance of SN antibodies on protection against HP-PRRSV. For better clinical protection, the future vaccines against the HP-PRRSV should effectively elicit SN antibodies prior to viral exposure.

The severity of lung lesions induced by HP-PRRSV infection was higher than the low-virulent PRRS strain (Guo et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013; Galliher-Beckley et al., 2015). In this study, pneumonia induced HP-PRRSV is consistent to the previous HP- PRRSV studies (Tian et al., 2007; Guo et al., 2013; Do et al., 2015; Charoenchanikran et al., 2016). The finding on upregulation of the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression following HP-PRRSV infection is consistent to the previous report. Several studies indicated that HP-PRRSV infected pigs exhibited earlier and higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1, IL-6 and IFN- $\alpha$  (Liu et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2013). Upregulation of these cytokines contributed to aggravated inflammation and lung pathology (Gomez-Laguna et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2010; Guo et al., 2013). One of the unique clinical presentations following HP-PRRSV infection is high fever (Tian et al., 2007). It is possible that up-regulation of the pyrogenic cytokines, including IL-1 and IL-6, resulted in increased prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) production that caused fever (Saper and Breder, 1994; Dinarello, 2004). In addition, high levels of viremia were associated with severity of interstitial pneumonia (Johnson et al., 2004; Han et al., 2013). In this study, reduction of HP-PRRSV viremia correlated with the reduction of lung lesion scores and lower levels of virus load in the lung tissues at the end of experiment. It should be noted that reduction of HP-PRRSV viremia was achieved by the MLV immunization. The reduction of viremic could be due to the induction of neutralizing antibodies. Our data showed that the levels of viremia significantly decreased on the appearance of viral-specific neutralizing antibodies. This finding is consistent with the previous studies that neutralizing antibodies could prevent viremia and provide protection against PRRSV infection (Yoon et al., 1996; Lopez and Osorio, 2004). In addition, induction of PRRSV-specific IFN- $\gamma$  secreting cells after HP-PRRSV challenge reflected enhanced anti-viral cell-mediated immunity for viral clearance (Meier et al., 2003; Loving et al., 2008; Park et al., 2014). Thus, induction of neutralizing antibodies and PRRSV-specific IFN-γ secreting cells observed in this study should resulted in enhanced anti-viral immunity and subsequently reduced viremia and lung lesions in the immunized pigs. Our findings indicated that DNA-MLV immunization could elicit host immune responses and reduce negative immunomodulatory effects of the MLV. However, effective protection against HP-PRRSV infection may require earlier and higher titer of HP-PRRSV-specific neutralizing antibodies. In the future study, PRRSV vaccine development should focus on induction of broad reactive and potent neutralizing antibodies as well as reduction of the negative immunomodulatory effects. The vaccine will be useful for disease prevention and control in PRRSV endemic areas.

#### 5.2 Conclusion

Priming with DNA vaccine (pORF7t) followed by MLV vaccination provided positive immunological outcomes by enhancing HP-PRRSV specific immunity, and reducing negative immunomodulatory effects following MLV vaccination and HP-PRRSV infection. However, there were no differences in degree of clinical protection between the groups immunized with MLV and DNA-MLV. These findings could benefit for vaccine development and establishment of PRRSV control strategies in the future.

#### REFERENCES

- Albina E, Carrat C and Charley B 1998. Interferon-alpha response to swine arterivirus (PoAV), the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J Interf Cytok Res. 18: 485-490.
- Allende R, Laegreid WW, Kutish GF, Ali A and Wills RWO, F. A. 2000. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: description of persistence in individual pigs upon experimental infection. J Virol. 74: 10834-10837.
- An TQ, Tian ZJ, Xiao Y, Li R, Peng JM, Wei TC, Zhang Y, Zhou YJ and Tong GZ 2010. Origin of highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus, China. Emerg Infect Dis. 16(2): 365-367.
- Ansari IH, Kwon B, Osorio FA and Pattnaik AK 2006. Influence of N-linked glycosylation of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus GP5 on virus infectivity, antigenicity, and ability to induce neutralizing antibodies. J Virol. 80(8): 3994-4004.
- Ayudhya SN, Assavacheep P and Thanawongnuwech R 2012. One world--one health: the threat of emerging swine diseases. An Asian perspective. Transbound Emerg Dis. 59 Suppl 1: 9-17.
- Bierk MD, Dee SA, Rossow KDO, S., Collins JE and Molitor TW 2001. Transmission of PRRS virus from persistently infected sows to contact controls. Can J Vet Res. 65: 261-266.
- Cecere TE, Todd SM and Leroith T 2012. Regulatory T cells in arterivirus and coronavirus infections: do they protect against disease or enhance it? Viruses. 4(5): 833-846.
- Charerntantanakul W 2012. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus vaccines: Immunogenicity, efficacy and safety aspects. World J Virol. 1(1): 23-30.
- Charoenchanikran P, Kedkovid R, Sirisereewan C, Woonwong Y, Arunorat J, Sitthichareonchai P, Sopipan N, Jittimanee S, Kesdangsakonwut S and Thanawongnuwech R 2016. Efficacy of Fostera® PRRS modified live virus (MLV) vaccination strategy against a Thai highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and

respiratory syndrome virus (HP-PRRSV) infection. Trop Anim Health Prod. 48(7): 1351-1359.

- Cho JG and Dee SA 2006. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Theriogenology. 66(3): 655-662.
- Christianson WT, Collins JE, Benfield DA, Harris L, Gorcyca DE and Chaldek DW 1992. Pathogenesis of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in mid-gestation sows and fetuses. Am J Vet Res. 53: 485-488.
- Corzo CA, Mondaca E, Wayne S, Torremorell M, Dee S, Davies P and Morrison RB 2010. Control and elimination of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virus Res. 154(1-2): 185-192.
- Diaz I, Darwich L, Pappaterra G, Pujols J and Mateu E 2006. Different European-type vaccines against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus have different immunological properties and confer different protection to pigs. Virology. 351(2): 249-259.
- Dinarello CA 2004. Infection, fever, and exogenous and endogenous pyrogens: some concepts have changed. J Endotoxin Res. 10(4): 201-222.
- Do DT, Park C, Choi K, Jeong J, Nguyen TT, Nguyen KD, Vo DT and Chae C 2015. Comparison of two genetically distant type 2 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) modified live vaccines against Vietnamese highly pathogenic PRRSV. Vet Microbiol. 179(3-4): 233-241.
- Egli C, Thur B, Liu L and Hofmann MA 2001. Quantitative TaqMan RT-PCR for the detection and differentiation of European and North American strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J Virol Methods. 98(1): 63-75.
- Flores-Mendoza L, Silva-Campa E, Resendiz M, Osorio FA and Hernandez J 2008. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infects mature porcine dendritic cells and up-regulates interleukin-10 production. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 15(4): 720-725.
- Fulton RB, Meyerholz DK and Varga SM 2010. Foxp3+ CD4 regulatory T cells limit pulmonary immunopathology by modulating the CD8 T cell response during respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Immunol. 185(4): 2382-2392.

- Galliher-Beckley A, Li X, Bates JT, Madera R, Waters A, Nietfeld J, Henningson J, He D, Feng W, Chen R and Shi J 2015. Pigs immunized with Chinese highly pathogenic PRRS virus modified live vaccine are protected from challenge with North American PRRSV strain NADC-20. Vaccine. 33(30): 3518-3525.
- Genini S, Delputte PL, Malinverni R, Cecere M, Stella A, Nauwynck HJ and Giuffra E 2008. Genome-wide transcriptional response of primary alveolar macrophages following infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J Gen Virol. 89(Pt 10): 2550-2564.
- Goldberg TL, Lowe JF, Milburn SM and Firkins LD 2003. Quasispecies variation of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus during natural infection. Virol 317: 197-207.
- Gomez-Laguna J, Salguero FJ, Barranco I, Pallares FJ, Rodriguez-Gomez IM, Bernabe A and Carrasco L 2010. Cytokine expression by macrophages in the lung of pigs infected with the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J Comp Pathol. 142(1): 51-60.
- Guo B, Lager KM, Henningson JN, Miller LC, Schlink SN, Kappes MA, Kehrli ME, Jr., Brockmeier SL, Nicholson TL, Yang HC and Faaberg KS 2013. Experimental infection of United States swine with a Chinese highly pathogenic strain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virology. 435(2): 372-384.
- Guo R, Katz BB, Tomich JM, Gallagher T and Fang Y 2016. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Utilizes Nanotubes for Intercellular Spread. J Virol. 90(10): 5163-5175.
- Halbur PG, Paul PS, Frey ML, Landgraf J, Eernisse K, Meng XJ, Lum MA, Andrews JJ and Rathje JA 1995. Comparison of the Pathogenicity of Two US Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Isolates with that of the Lelystad Virus. Vet Pathol. 32(6): 648-660.
- Han K, Seo HW, Oh Y, Kang I, Park C and Chae C 2013. Comparison of the virulence of European and North American genotypes of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in experimentally infected pigs. Vet J. 195(3): 313-318.

- Huang C, Zhang Q and Feng WH 2015. Regulation and evasion of antiviral immune responses by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virus Res. 202: 101-111.
- Huang C, Zhang Q, Guo XK, Yu ZB, Xu AT, Tang J and Feng WH 2014. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 4 antagonizes beta interferon expression by targeting the NF-kappaB essential modulator. J Virol. 88(18): 10934-10945.
- Jantafong T, Sangtong P, Saenglub W, Mungkundar C, Romlamduan N, Lekchareonsuk C and Lekcharoensuk P 2015. Genetic diversity of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in Thailand and Southeast Asia from 2008 to 2013. Vet Microbiol. 176(3-4): 229-238.
- Johnson W, Roof M, Vaughn E, Christopher-Hennings J, Johnson CR and Murtaugh MP 2004. Pathogenic and humoral immune responses to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) are related to viral load in acute infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 102(3): 233-247.
- Joo HS, Park BK, Dee SA and Pijoan C 1997. Indirect fluorescent IgM antibody response of pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome syndrome virus. Vet Microbiol. 55(1): 303-307.
- Kadowski N, Antonenko S, Lau JY and Liu YJ 2000. Natural interferon alpha/betaproducing cells link innate and adaptive immunity. J Exp Med. 192: 216-226.
- Karniychuk UU, Geldhof M, Vanhee M, Van Doorsselaere J, Saveleva TA and Nauwynck HJ 2010. Pathogenesis and antigenic characterization of a new East European subtype 3 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolate. BMC Vet Res. 6(30): 10.
- Karniychuk UU and Nauwynck HJ 2013. Pathogenesis and prevention of placental and transplacental porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection. Vet Res. 44(95): 14.
- Kim WI, Kim JJ, Cha SH, Wu WH, Cooper V, Evans R, Choi EJ and Yoon KJ 2013. Significance of genetic variation of PRRSV ORF5 in virus neutralization and molecular determinants corresponding to cross neutralization among PRRS viruses. Vet Microbiol. 162(1): 10-22.

- Kimman TG, Cornelissen LA, Moormann RJ, Rebel JM and Stockhofe-Zurwieden N 2009. Challenges for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) vaccinology. Vaccine. 27(28): 3704-3718.
- Koyama S, Ishii KJ, Coban C and Akira S 2008. Innate immune response to viral infection. Cytokine. 43(3): 336-341.
- Labarque GG, Nauwynck H, Van Reeth K and Pensaert MB 2000. Effect of cellular changes and onset of humoral immunity on the replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in the lungs of pigs. J Gen Virol. 81: 1327-1334.
- Lager KM, Schlink SN, Brockmeier SL, Miller LC, Henningson JN, Kappes MA, Kehrli ME, Loving CL, Guo B, Swenson SL, Yang HC and Faaberg KS 2014. Efficacy of Type 2 PRRSV vaccine against Chinese and Vietnamese HP-PRRSV challenge in pigs. Vaccine. 32(48): 6457-6462.
- Le Bon A, Schiavoni G, D'Agostino G, Gresser I, Belardelli F and Tough DF 2001. Type I interferons potently enhance humoral immunity and can promote isotype switching by stimulating dendritic cells in vivo. Immunity. 14: 461-470.
- Leng X, Li Z, Xia M, He Y and Wu H 2012. Evaluation of the efficacy of an attenuated live vaccine against highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in young pigs. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 19(8): 1199-1206.
- LeRoith T, Hammond S, Todd SM, Ni Y, Cecere T and Pelzer KD 2011. A modified live PRRSV vaccine and the pathogenic parent strain induce regulatory T cells in pigs naturally infected with Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 140(3-4): 312-316.
- Liu Y, Shi W, Zhou E, Wang S, Hu S, Cai X, Rong F, Wu J, Xu M, Xu M and Li L 2010. Dynamic changes in inflammatory cytokines in pigs infected with highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 17(9): 1439-1445.
- Loemba HD, Mounir S, Mardassi H, Archambault D and Dea S 1996. Kinetics of humoral immune response to the major structural proteins of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Arch Virol. 141(3-4): 751-761.

- Lopez OJ and Osorio FA 2004. Role of neutralizing antibodies in PRRSV protective immunity. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 102(3): 155-163.
- Loving CL, Brockmeier SL and Sacco RE 2007. Differential type I interferon activation and susceptibility of dendritic cell populations to porcine arterivirus. Immunology. 120(2): 217-229.
- Loving CL, Brockmeier SL, Vincent AL, Lager KM and Sacco RE 2008. Differences in clinical disease and immune response of pigs challenged with a high-dose versus low-dose inoculum of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Viral Immunol. 21(3): 315-325.
- Lunney JK, Fang Y, Ladinig A, Chen N, Li Y, Rowland B and Renukaradhya GJ 2016. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV): Pathogenesis and Interaction with the Immune System. Annu Rev Anim Biosci. 4: 129-154.

Mateu E and Diaz I 2008. The challenge of PRRS immunology. Vet J. 177(3): 345-351.

- Meier WA, Galeota J, Osorio FA, Husmann RJ, Schnitzlein WM and Zuckermann FA 2003. Gradual development of the interferon-  $\gamma$  response of swine to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection or vaccination. Virology. 309(1): 18-31.
- Miller LC, Laegreid WW, Bono JL, Chitko-McKown CG and Fox JM 2004. Interferon type I response in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus-infected MARC-145 cells. Arch Virol. 149(12): 2453-2463.
- Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL and O'Garra A 2001. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. Annu Rev Immunol. 19(1): 683-765.
- Mortensen S, Stryhn H, Søgaard R, Boklund A, Stärk KD, Christensen J and Willeberg P 2002. Risk factors for infection of sow herds with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus. Prev Vet Med. 53(1): 83-101.
- Nelson EA, Christopher-Hennings J and Benfield DA 1994. Serum immune responses to the proteins of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus. J Vet Diagn Invest. 6(4): 410-415.

- Nilubol D, Tripipat T, Hoonsuwan T and Kortheerakul K 2012. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus, Thailand, 2010–2011. Emerg Infect Dis. 18(12): 2039-2043.
- Osorio FA, Galeota JA, Nelson E, Brodersen B, Doster A, Wills R, Zuckermann F and Laegreid WW 2002. Passive transfer of virus-specific antibodies confers protection against reproductive failure induced by a virulent strain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and establishes sterilizing immunity. Virol. 302(1): 9-20.
- Ostrowski M, Galeota JA, Jar AM, Platt KB, Osorio FA and Lopez OJ 2002. Identification of neutralizing and nonneutralizing epitopes in the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus GP5 ectodomain. J Virol. 76(9): 4241-4250.
- Park BK, Joo HS, Dee SA and Pijoan C 1995. Evaluation of an indirect fluorescent IgM antibody test for the detection of pigs with recent infection of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J Vet Diagn Invest. 7(4): 544-546.
- Park C, Seo HW, Han K, Kang I and Chae C 2014. Evaluation of the efficacy of a new modified live porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) vaccine (Fostera PRRS) against heterologous PRRSV challenge. Vet Microbiol. 172(3-4): 432-442.
- Pirzadeh B and Dea S 1997. Monoclonal antibodies to the ORF5 product of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus define linear neutralizing determinants. J Gen Virol. 78(8): 1867-1873.
- Plagemann PG 2004. GP5 ectodomain epitope of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus, strain Lelystad virus. Virus Res. 102(2): 225-230.
- Plagemann PG, Rowland RR and Faaberg KS 2002. The primary neutralization epitope of porcine respiratory and reproductive syndrome virus strain VR-2332 is located in the middle of the GP5 ectodomain. Arch Virol. 147(12): 2327-2347.
- Renukaradhya GJ, Meng XJ, Calvert JG, Roof M and Lager KM 2015. Inactivated and subunit vaccines against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome: Current status and future direction. Vaccine. 33(27): 3065-3072.

- Robinson SR, Li J, Nelson EA and Murtaugh MP 2015. Broadly neutralizing antibodies against the rapidly evolving porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virus Res. 203: 56-65.
- Royaee AR, Husmann RJ, Dawson HD, Calzada-Nova G, Schnitzlein WM, Zuckermann FA and Lunney JK 2004. Deciphering the involvement of innate immune factors in the development of the host response to PRRSV vaccination. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 102(3): 199-216.
- Sakaguchi S, Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P and Yamaguchi T 2009. Regulatory T cells: how do they suppress immune responses? Int Immunol. 21(10): 1105-1111.
- Saper CB and Breder CD 1994. The neurologic basis of fever. N. Engl. J. Med. 330(26): 1880-1886.
- Shi C, Liu Y, Ding Y, Zhang Y and Zhang J 2015. PRRSV receptors and their roles in virus infection. Arch Microbiol. 197(4): 503-512.
- Shi M, Lam TT, Hon CC, Murtaugh MP, Davies PR, Hui RK, Li J, Wong LT, Yip CW, Jiang JW and Leung FC 2010. Phylogeny-based evolutionary, demographical, and geographical dissection of North American type 2 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses. J Virol. 84(17): 8700-8711.
- Silva-Campa E, Flores-Mendoza L, Resendiz M, Pinelli-Saavedra A, Mata-Haro V, Mwangi W and Hernandez J 2009. Induction of T helper 3 regulatory cells by dendritic cells infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virology. 387(2): 373-379.
- Snijder EJ and Meulenberg JJM 1998. The molecular biology of arteriviruses. J Gen Virol. 79: 961-979.
- Suradhat S and Thanawongnuwech R 2003. Upregulation of interleukin-10 gene expression in the leukocytes of pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J Gen Virol. 84(Pt 10): 2755-2760.
- Suradhat S, Wongyanin P, Kesdangsakonwut S, Teankum K, Lumyai M, Triyarach S and Thanawongnuwech R 2015. A novel DNA vaccine for reduction of PRRSVinduced negative immunomodulatory effects: A proof of concept. Vaccine. 33(32): 3997-4003.
- Suradhat S, Wongyanin P, Sirisereewan C, Nedumpun T, Lumyai M, Triyarach S, Chaturavittawong D, Paphavasit T, Panyatong R and Thanawongnuwech R 2016. Transdermal delivery of plasmid encoding truncated nucleocapsid protein enhanced PRRSV-specific immune responses. Vaccine. 34(5): 609-615.
- Thanawongnuwech R, Amonsin A, Tasanakit A and Damrongwatanapokin S 2004. Genetics and geographical variation of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) in Thailand. Vet. Microbiol. 101: 9-21.
- Thanawongnuwech R, Halbur PG, Ackermann MR, Thacker EL and Royer RL 1998. Effects of low (modified-live virus vaccine) and high (VR-2385)-virulence strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus on pulmonary clearance of copper particles in pigs. Vet Pathol. 35: 398-406.
- Thanawongnuwech R and Suradhat S 2010. Taming PRRSV: revisiting the control strategies and vaccine design. Virus Res. 154(1-2): 133-140.
- Tian K, Yu X, Zhao T, Feng Y, Cao Z, Wang C, Hu Y, Chen X, Hu D, Tian X, Liu D, Zhang S, Deng X, Ding Y, Yang L, Zhang Y, Xiao H, Qiao M, Wang B, Hou L, Wang X, Yang X, Kang L, Sun M, Jin P, Wang S, Kitamura Y, Yan J and Gao GF 2007.
  Emergence of fatal PRRSV variants: unparalleled outbreaks of atypical PRRS in China and molecular dissection of the unique hallmark. PLoS One. 2(6): e526.
- Van Doorsselaere J, Brar MS, Shi M, Karniychuk U, Leung FCC and Nauwynck HJ 2012. Complete genome characterization of a East European Type 1 subtype 3 porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virus genes. 44(1): 51-54.
- Van Reeth K, Labarque GN, H. and Pensaert M 1999. Differential production of proinflammatory cytokines in the pig lung during different respiratory virus infections: correlations with pathogenicity. Res Vet Sci. 67: 47-52.
- Van Reeth K and Nauwynck H 2000. Proinflammatory cytokines and viral respiratory disease in pigs. Vet Res. 31: 187-213.
- Vignali DA, Collison LW and Workman CJ 2008. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol. 8(7): 523-532.
- Vu HL, Kwon B, Yoon KJ, Laegreid WW, Pattnaik AK and Osorio FA 2011. Immune evasion of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus through glycan shielding

involves both glycoprotein 5 as well as glycoprotein 3. J Virol. 85(11): 5555-5564.

- Wei Z, Zhang J, Zhuang J, Sun Z, Gao F and Yuan S 2013. Immunization of pigs with a type 2 modified live PRRSV vaccine prevents the development of a deadly long lasting hyperpyrexia in a challenge study with highly pathogenic PRRSV JX143. Vaccine. 31(16): 2062-2066.
- Wiesner DL, Smith KD, Kotov DI, Nielsen JN, Bohjanen PR and Nielsen K 2016. Regulatory
  T Cell Induction and Retention in the Lungs Drives Suppression of Detrimental
  Type 2 Th Cells During Pulmonary Cryptococcal Infection. J Immunol. 196(1):
  365-374.
- Wills RW, Doster AR, Galeota JA, Sur JH and Osorio FA 2003. Duration of Infection and Proportion of Pigs Persistently Infected with Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. J Clin Microbiol. 41(1): 58-62.
- Wills RW, Zimmerman JJ, Yoon KJ, Swenson SL, Hoffman LJ, McGinley MJ, Hill HT and Platt KB 1997. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: routes of excretion. Vet Microbiol. 57(1): 69-81.
- Wongyanin P, Buranapraditkul S, Yoo D, Thanawongnuwech R, Roth JA and Suradhat S 2012. Role of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nucleocapsid protein in induction of interleukin-10 and regulatory Tlymphocytes (Treg). J Gen Virol. 93(6): 1236-1246.
- Wongyanin P, Buranapraditkun S, Chokeshai-Usaha K, Thanawonguwech R and Suradhat S 2010. Induction of inducible CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T lymphocytes by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 133(2-4): 170-182.
- Woodland DL 2004. Jump-starting the immune system: prime-boosting comes of age. Trends Immunol. 25(2): 98-104.
- Yaeger MJ, Prieve T, Collins J, Christopher-Hennings J, Nelson E and Benfield D 1993. Evidence for transmission of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus in boar semen. J Swine Health Prod. 1: 7-9.

- Yoo D, Song C, Sun Y, Du Y, Kim O and Liu HC 2010. Modulation of host cell responses and evasion strategies for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virus Res. 154(1-2): 48-60.
- Yoon KJ, Zimmerman JJ, Swenson SL, McGinley MJ, Eernisse KA, Brevik A, Rhinehart LL, Frey ML, Hill HT and Platt KB 1995. Characterization of the humoral immune response to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus infection. J Vet Diagn Invest. 7(3): 305-312.
- Yoon SL, Wu LL, Zimmerman JJ, Hill HT and Platt KB 1996. Antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) infection in pigs. Viral Immunol. 9: 51-63.
- Yu X, Zhou Z, Cao Z, Wu J, Zhang Z, Xu B, Wang C, Hu D, Deng X, Han W, Gu X, Zhang S, Li X, Wang B, Zhai X and Tian K 2015. Assessment of the safety and efficacy of an attenuated live vaccine based on highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 22(5): 493-502.
- Zhang L, Liu J, Bai J, Wang X, Li Y and Jiang P 2013. Comparative expression of Tolllike receptors and inflammatory cytokines in pigs infected with different virulent porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolates. Virol J. 10: 135.
- Zhang Q and Yoo D 2015. PRRS virus receptors and their role for pathogenesis. Vet Microbiol. 177(3-4): 229-241.
- Zhou Y 2008. Regulatory T cells and viral infections. Front Biosci. 13: 1152-1170.
- Zuckermann FA, Garcia EA, Luque ID, Christopher-Hennings J, Doster A, Brito M and Osorio F 2007. Assessment of the efficacy of commercial porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) vaccines based on measurement of serologic response, frequency of gamma-IFN-producing cells and virological parameters of protection upon challenge. Vet Microbiol. 123(1-3): 69-85.



# Appendix A

## Preparation of reagents

## 1. 10X MEM

1.1 MEN	1 powder	(for 10 liters)	1 bottle

1.2 Distilled water to 1000 ml

### 2. MEM complete media

	2.1 10X MEM	100 ml
	2.2 L-glutamine	10 ml
	2.3 Antibiotic (Penicillin Streptomycin)	1 ml
	2.4 Pyruvic acid	0.11 g
	2.5 NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	2 g
	2.6 Distilled water to	1000 ml
3.	RPMI complete media	
	3.1 Fetal bovine serum (FBS)	50 ml
	3.2 100x L-glutamine	5 ml
	3.3 100x antibiotic/antimycotic	5 ml
	3.4 HEPES	12.5 ml
	3.5 50 mM $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol	0.5 ml
	3.6 Advance RPMI-1640 to	500 ml

### Appendix B

#### Protocol for serum neutralization test

- 1. Heat inactivation of serum at 56 °C for 30 min
- 2. Prepare a two-fold dilution of serum samples until reach 1/256 dilution
- 3. Add with equal volume of HP-PRRSV (strain 10PL01) containing 100 TCID $_{50}$  of virus in the serial dilution of serum
- 4. Incubate at 37 °C for 1 hr in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO2
- 5. Transfer the mixtures to 96-well plates of MARC-145
- 6. Incubate for 48-72 hr at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO2
- 7. Determine end-point titers using immunoperoxidase monolayer assay (IPMA)

### APPENDIX C

#### Protocol for indirect immunoperoxidase monolayer assay (IPMA)

- 1. Add 50  $\mu\text{l}/\text{well}$  of 4% formaldehyde (in PBS) fixation for 30 minutes at room temperature
- 2. Wash plate three times with 0.5% PBS Tween 20
- 3. Incubate with primary antibodies, mAb SDOW17 (1:1000) and mAb SR30 (1:1000), in 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS by transferring 30  $\mu$ l/well for 1 hr at room temperature
- 4. Wash plate three times with 0.5% PBS Tween 20
- 5. Incubate with secondary antibody, polyclonal rabbit anti-mouse HRP conjugate

(1:300), in 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS by transferring 30  $\mu$ l/well

for 1 hr at room temperature

6. Wash plate three times with 0.5% PBS Tween 20

#### iulalongkorn University

- 7. Incubate with AEC peroxidase substrate solution by transferring 50  $\mu$ l/well for 30 minutes at room temperature
- 8. Wash plate three times with tap water and dry plate

#### VITA

Mr. Chaitawat Sirisereewan was born on January 29, 1989 at Ayutthaya province. He graduated with Doctor of Veterinary Medicine, first class honor, from Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University in 2014. Soon after graduated, He enrolled in the Master program in Veterinary Pathobiology program since 2014.

During the Master's degree study, He received a scholarship from Chulalongkorn University Graduate Scholarship to commemorate the 72nd anniversary of His Majesty King Bhumibol Adulyadej.

#### Academic publication

Sirisereewan C, Nedumpun T, Kesdangsakonwut S, Woonwong Y, Kedkovid R, Arunorat J, Thanawongnuwech R and Suradhat S 2017. Positive immunomodulatory effects of heterologous DNA vaccine- modified live vaccine, prime-boost immunization, against the highly-pathogenic PRRSV infection. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology. 183: 7-15.

Sirisereewan C, Nedumpun T, Thanawongnuwech R, Suradhat, S. 2016. The effects of DNA-MLV prime-boost immunization on the kinetics of innate cytokine gene expression following highly-pathogenic (HP)-PRRSV infection. The 15th Chulalongkorn University Veterinary Conference, Bangkok, Thailand: CUVC 2016; p. 165-167.

Suradhat S, Wongyanin P, Sirisereewan C, Nedumpun T, Lumyai M, Triyarach C, Chaturavittawong D, Paphavasit T, Panyatong R, Thanawongnuwech R. 2016. Transdermal delivery of plasmid encoding truncated nucleocapsidprotein enhanced PRRSV-specific immune responses. Vaccine. 34(32): 609-615.

Nedumpun T, Sirisereewan C, Bunpapong N, Thontiravong A, Suradhat, S. 2016. Establishment of a protocol for isolation and detection of porcine regulatory T lymphocyte (Treg) in the lung tissues. The 15th Chulalongkorn University Veterinary Conference, Bangkok, Thailand: CUVC 2016; p. 95.

Charoenchanikran P, Kedkovid R, Sirisereewan C, Woonwong Y, Arunorat J, Sitthichareonchai P, Sopipan N, Jittimanee S, Kesdangsakonwut S and Thanawongnuwech R 2016. Efficacy of Fostera® PRRS modified live virus (MLV) vaccination strategy against a Thai highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (HP-PRRSV) infection. Trop Anim Health Prod. 1-9.